IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-1387

KENNETH HARTLEY

Appellant

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Harry P. Brody Florida Bar No. 0977860

Jeffrey M. Hazen Florida Bar No. 0153060

Brody & Hazen, PA P. O. Box 16515 Tallahassee, Florida 32317 850.942.0005 Counsel for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

1. Procedural History

Mr. Hartley, along with Ronnie Ferrell and Sidney Johnson, was charged by indictment with the first-degree murder of Gino Mayhew, with armed burglary, and with aggravated assault. (R. 1016) The three defendants were tried separately and were convicted of first degree murder, robbery, and kidnapping. <u>Id.</u> Mr. Hartley and Mr. Ferrell were sentenced to death, and Mr. Johnson was sentenced to life in prison. <u>Id.</u> (Upon information and belief, Mr. Ferrell's death sentence has been vacated by the Circuit Court after a post-conviction evidentiary hearing.)

Upon appeal, the verdict and sentence were upheld by the Florida Supreme Court. <u>Hartley v. State</u>, 686 So. 2nd 1316 (Fla. 1996) (R. 1022) Subsequently, the United States Supreme Court denied Mr. Hartley's Petition for Review by a Writ of Certiorari. <u>Id.</u>

On September 15, 1998, the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel for the Northern Region filed an initial shell motion for post-conviction relief and, thereafter, this motion was amended and supplemented several times. (R. 1-42; 43-48; 49-55; 87-177; 179-200; 201-271; 272-392; 395-396; 397-398; 399-401; 402-403; 2223-2225; 2226-2229)

Eventually, an evidentiary hearing was held and the Circuit Court denied relief on all of Mr. Harley's claims, either summarily, upon the face of the 3850/1 motions and the record, or based upon the testimony presented at the Evidentiary Hearing. (R. 1494-2212)

During Mr. Hartley's protracted post-conviction procedures in the Circuit Court, Mr. Hartley was initially represented by the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel, and then was represented, by appointment through the Capital Case Registry, by Attorney Jefferson Morrow.

During the Evidentiary Hearing, a conflict arose between Mr. Morrow and Mr. Hartley when Mr. Hartley asserted that Mr. Morrow had demanded payment to do further work from Mr. Hartley's family while also being paid by the state as Registry Counsel. Therefore, Mr. Hartley filed a bar complaint and Mr. Morrow was relieved of the duty to defend Mr. Hartley. However, Mr. Hartley was not permitted to be present at the "hearing" before Judge Moran, the Chief Judge, whereat Mr. Morrow was allowed to withdraw as Mr. Hartley's counsel.

Subsequently, Dale Werthing was appointed from the Registry to represent Mr. Hartley. Therefore, Mr. Hartley privately retained Attorney Kenneth Malnik to represent him, Mr. Malnik, despite claiming on the record that a

mental health expert was required, presented no further witnesses. Mr. Malnik did represent Mr. Hartley at a status conference or a "Huff" proceeding on an amended motion for post-conviction release. At that hearing, Mr. Hartley, appearing by telephone from death-row, was invited to address the court, and he did so, expressing concerns that investigations had not been done by counsel as Mr. Hartley had instructed and had expected and, thus, that the full and fair adjudication of his 3850/1 motion had been compromised.

Mr. Hartley was frustrated that his lawyers were not sufficiently investigating the case and presenting available evidence and he was equally frustrated by the court in his attempts to make a full, complete, and accurate record of his concerns. His statements to the Court were struck on the ground that he was not sworn as a witness after being invited to speak. Similarly, his procedural rights had been violated when he was not allowed to attend the hearing at which Mr. Morrow was allowed to withdraw so that he could put on the record the fact that Morrow demanded money to do the investigation Mr. Hartley sought.

Mr. Malnik filed a premature Notice of Appeal while the Circuit Court was still considering a motion for

rehearing. Mr. Hartley then retained present counsel, but the court disposed of all pending motions without permitting that counsel to argue the procedural concerns which were frustrating Mr. Hartley's efforts to have his case properly investigated.

Ultimately, a Notice of Appeal was timely filed and, after the record was returned sua sponte by this Court's Clerk to the Duval Clerk for proper pagination, the instant appeal follows. (R. 2424-2432)

2. Trial Testimony

At trial, Sidney Jones testified that he worked in the victim's crack cocaine business. <u>Hartley v. State</u>, 686 So. 2nd 1316 (Fla. 1996). He testified that on April 22, 1991 that he was selling crack cocaine out of his Chevrolet Blazer in an apartment complex in Jacksonville. Jones testified that he saw Mr. Hartley, Mr. Ferrell and Mr. Johnson near the Blazer with Mr. Hartley holding a gun. Johnson said he saw Mr. Hartley force the victim into the driver's seat and that Hartley climbed into the back seat behind the victim. Ferrell allegedly got into the front passenger seat, while Johnson stood outside the Blazer talking to Hartley. Jones then saw the Blazer start up

and leave the apartment complex at a fast speed. Jones said Ferrell shouted out of the Blazer that the victim would "be back." Johnson followed the Blazer in a truck.

Police officers testified on April 23, 1991, they found the victim's Blazer parked in a field behind an elementary school and the victim's body was in the Blazer in the driver's side seat. The victim had been shot five times. Based upon the crack dealer's statement about seeing Hartley, Ferrell and the victim leaving in the Blazer with Johnson appearing to follow in the truck, the three defendants were arrested. Mr. Hartley told the police that he didn't know the victim, but the testimony was that he had allegedly made statements to other witnesses that he had robbed the victim on a previous occasion. A jailhouse snitch, who was Hartley's cellmate, testified that Hartley had advised him that the plan was Sylvester Johnson's and that they planned to rob some "dreads" and then decided to "get" the victim.

Yet another jailhouse snitch testified that Hartley denied involvement in the murder but admitted to robbing the victim prior to the murder. Subsequently, this snitch testified Hartley made incriminating statements.

And still another snitch indicated that Hartley made an incriminating statement by saying he was afraid Ferrell was going to testify against him when Ferrell was just as guilty.

All of the crucial witnesses against Mr. Hartley had been convicted of various felony charges and, thus, were waiting to be sentenced to potentially long prison terms when they provided all of the inculpatory evidence against Mr. Hartley. See Hartley v. State 686 So 2nd 1316 (Fla. 1996)

Mr. Hartley's trial lawyer was Attorney Willis. Mr. Willis presented no Guilt Phase witnesses and one lay witness in the Penalty Phase. A public defender, Alan Chipperfield, testified in the Penalty-Phase as an expert regarding the incarceration assurance of the fifteen-year and twenty-five year mandatory minimum sentences, and the Reverend Coley Williams, the Hartley's family pastor, testified that Hartley had a quite peaceful spirit, attended church off and on, came from a good family and was intelligent. <u>Hartley v. State</u> 658 So. 2nd 1316, 1319 (Fla. 1996).

After Reverend Williams concluded his brief testimony, the entirety of the mitigation evidence, Attorney Willis rested the defense case. The prosecutor, apparently surprised that no expert testimony had been presented regarding the important mental health mitigators, asked the trial judge to determine why no such evidence was being presented. (TR. Vol. LXX 2554-2555) Mr. Willis then explained that while "we are aware that the Court entered an Order transporting him for that purpose (to

obtain psychiatric evaluation) we did not request it to be done." Id.

Given the lack of evidence presented by the defense in the Penalty Phase, it was not surprising that the Court found minimal mitigation and sentenced Mr. Hartley to death.

On appeal, the Florida Supreme Court struck the HAC aggravator, which had been based on the alleged "execution style killing," as there was <u>no evidence</u> to support such a finding in the jailhouse snitch's testimony. However, the Court found this error to be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the aggravators and the dearth of mitigation. <u>Hartley v. State</u>, 658 So. 2^{nd} at 1323. The Court also noted that the sentencing Order was erroneous insofar as it showed no basis for the CCP aggravator. Nevertheless, the Florida Supreme Court noted that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because of factual bases provided by the testimony of the jailhouse snitches. <u>Id.</u>

3. <u>The Evidentiary Hearing</u>

Mr. Hartley was granted an Evidentiary Hearing on three claims. First, he was granted a hearing on Claim XXI (21), which contended that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present penalty phase mitigation witnesses. Secondly, in a related claim, he was granted a hearing on his claim that Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to present mitigation

evidence, for failing to prepare for the penalty phase of the trial, and for failing to present witnesses.

In support of these claims, hearing counsel presented the testimony of Shawn Jefferson, Mr. Hartley's brother, Coach Stevens, Cheryl Daniels, Jean Daniels, Ronnie Groomes, Tanya Hawk, Dorothy Cherry, and Robert Willis, his trial counsel.

Mr. Jefferson testified that his full name is Vanchi Lashawn Jefferson and he is Mr. Hartley's brother. (R. 1571) He was an NFL football player for twelve years and at the time of his testimony was still playing. (R. 1571) He denied that he would ever say anything like he didn't want his career to be damaged by being related to Kenneth Hartley. (R. 1572)

Mr. Jefferson was the person who hired Mr. Willis. (R. 1573) He testified that he was always available to talk to Mr. Willis but that the only time he spoke with him was when Willis needed money. Mr. Jefferson borrowed money from his agent to pay Mr. Willis' bill initially because he had just started in the league as a late round draft pick. (R. 1573) Whenever Mr. Jefferson heard from Mr. Willis it was "send... more money." <u>Id.</u> He did hear from Willis several times but it was always about money. <u>Id.</u> Jefferson made sure that Willis had all the phone numbers to get in contact with him. Further, Mr. Jefferson was "absolutely" available to testify in the Penalty Phase. (R. 1574)

Mr. Jefferson testified he would have testified about growing up with his brother, going to church, singing gospel, and those sorts of things, and he would have certainly have told the jury that the things the prosecutor said about Mr. Hartley were not true. (R. 1576) Mr. Jefferson would have testified that his brother was a caring person and moved the jury with the wonderful human anecdote about his brother's eagerness to sing despite having less than a golden voice. Id.

Mr. Jefferson and Mr. Hartley played sports together, and in fact, Mr. Hartley introduced Mr. Jefferson to sports and encouraged Mr. Jefferson to play to his fullest. <u>Id.</u> In fact, Mr. Jefferson credits Mr. Hartley with planting the seed in his heart which permitted him to persevere and prosper in the NFL for so long. <u>Id.</u> Mr. Jefferson hears Mr. Hartley's voice telling him come on and to push on and he does. <u>Id.</u> (It is not conceivable that Mr. Jefferson would "wash his hands" of Mr. Hartley!)

Mr. Jefferson described being on Boy's Club basketball and football teams with Mr. Hartley and about his high school basketball experience, although he was ultimately cut from the high school team, fortunately picked up football instead. (R. 1576)

Mr. Jefferson did not recall ever talking to an investigator for Attorney Willis about his memories of Mr. Hartley or, for that matter, about anything. (R. 1577)

Mr. Jefferson testified that the whole family tried to attend the trial as much as each member of the family could, although the trial was so hard on his mother that he only encouraged her to attend to the extent that her health could take it. (R. 1577) Of course, she attended anyway. (R. 1577)

Finally, Mr. Jefferson testified that his mother transferred her sons, Shawn and Kenneth, from their high school to a different high school because of gang trouble or potential gang trouble at their former school. (R. 1579) The neighborhood was tough. <u>Id.</u>

On cross examination, Mr. Jefferson testified that he recalls visiting his brother in jail. (R. 1584) He further testified, that at one point, he was the national spokesman for the Atlanta Falcons, and that he did volunteer work for the Boys and Girls Clubs, making tickets available to the kids." (R. 1586 - 1587) Throughout his career, he tried to help less fortunate people see football games. He also talked about his dedication to his profession and was proud of the fact that he only missed one game in his whole NFL career playing hurt at least 60% of the time. Id. Clearly, Mr. Hartley had taught him well.

Finally, the prosecution attempts to insinuate some meaning from the fact that Mr. Jefferson is not paying for Mr. Hartley's current counsel and to manufacture some lack of affection or feeling for his brother, forcing Mr. Jefferson to describe some of the financial pressures imposed on him as a successful man who comes from a large, working family. Frankly neither this testimony nor the prosecutor's inquiry seems particularly relevant to any of the issues in this case but, if anything, Mr. Jefferson's honest, emotional response would have struck a credible chord with the jury. It would have emphasized, not minimized, the brother's love. Mr. Jefferson's dedication to his family and his love for his brother comes through powerfully in his testimony, it is Attorney Willis who is motivated by money, not Mr. Jefferson. (There is a further irony here in that the reason that Mr. Morrow withdraw is that Mr. Morrow attempted to get funds from Mr. Jefferson despite the fact that he was being paid by the Registry.)

Finally, Mr. Jefferson testified that Mr. Willis did not explain to him the bifurcated nature of a death penalty case. (R. 1611) In fact, there is no evidence in the record the unique nature of a Penalty-Phase was discussed with anyone by Attorney Willis.

Next, Coach Stevens, Freddy Stevens, testified that he was a football coach and school teacher at Raines High School for

years. (R. 1627) When he was at Raines he knew both Shawn Jefferson and Kenneth Hartley. (R. 1627 - 1628) He described Mr. Hartley as "mannerable" (R. 1628) and confirmed that Shawn Jefferson and Ken Hartley were inseparable in high school. <u>Id.</u> Although he had more expense with Shawn, Coach Stevens descried them both as polite and cooperative. (R. 1628)

Coach Stevens knew that Kenneth Hartley was on trial in 1994, but the Coach was never contacted by the defense attorney. Id. He would have testified had he been contacted. (R. 1629)

Cheryl Daniels, Mr. Hartley's sister, testified at the evidentiary hearing that she recalled talking to Attorney Willis about the case in 1994. (R. 1634-1635) Mr. Willis told her he was going to win the case and that she shouldn't worry about it. <u>Id.</u> She was not contacted or prepared to testify in the penalty phase, which was held ten days after the conviction (R. 1636) She was not advised and did not know that she could come to court and testify on behalf of her brother to show the good part or the good side of her brother. <u>Id.</u> She would have testified, had she been contacted about growing up with him in the same house, about the very loving family that they had, and about Ken's very jovial "jokeable" nature. (R. 1636)

Cheryl could have testified that Ken was a very good brother, <u>very</u> good, as she put it, especially in his ability to relate to old folks. (R. 1636-1637) When others might say

something, presumably negative about an elder, Ken would be the type of person who would say "don't do that!." (R. 1637) Ms. Daniels testified that Ken is a caring person, and is especially so when it comes to caring for the vulnerable.

Cheryl would have testified that Kenneth Hartley was a very caring, very sweet person. <u>Id.</u> As Ms. Daniels testified, "Ken, loved everyone, there was no single person that he didn't love." <u>Id.</u> Had she been called to testify she would have used this enthusiasm for Ken to help the jury understand the kind, caring, funny, loving, sweet side of Kenneth Hartley, which she had first-hand opportunity to witness during their many years living together under the same roof in the same family. <u>Id.</u> She was able to testify to these things and was willing to testify to these things if only Mr. Willis had contacted her. Further, she had given Mr. Willis a list of names of other people he could contact who'd testify about Mr. Hartley's good qualities.

Ms. Daniels also testified that she went to church with both Mr. Jefferson and Mr. Hartley and did community activities with both of them.

Ms. Daniels called Mr. Willis the day after the guilty verdict was returned, and she was crying. (R. 1645) Mr. Willis said "Kiddo calm down." He suggested that the verdict was based on the previous manslaughter charge and that he was going to appeal it, but she never heard from him again. (R. 1645)

(Surely, this could not have been when Mr. Willis alleged the family had washed its hands of Kenneth!) Ms. Daniels affirmed that both she and Shawn would have been proud to testify for her brother, and she explicitly denied the prosecution's cynical suggestion that Mr. Jefferson would have been "better off" in California than testifying. (R. 1647-1648)

Jean Daniels, Mr. Hartley's mother, testified that Mr. Willis called her one time, and then never called her again. (R. 1652) She apparently testified at a bond hearing when Mr. Hartley first got arrested, but Mr. Willis never called her about the penalty phase, nor did he explain to her that there would be a penalty phase. (R 1652)

Mrs. Daniels would have testified that Kenneth Hartley was raised in the church, that he had a curfew at night, and that he was a good boy. She could have testified about the rough neighborhood they lived in and the problems of a young man growing up there. (R. 1653)

Mrs. Daniels could have also testified that Mr. Hartley sang in church and was an Usher in the Evergreen Baptist Church. <u>Id.</u> She told about his kindness to elderly people and his eagerness to help them out anyway he could. (R. 1653 - 1654) Mr. Hartley "loved old people." <u>Id.</u>

Finally, Mrs. Daniels explained again that Mr. Jefferson was concerned about her health and her ability to handle the

stress of the trial when he urged her not to attend the trial. (R. 1659 - 1660) Her son was simply worried about her. Id.

After Mr. Hartley was convicted, Mrs. Daniels did not hear from Mr. Willis. (R. 1662) He never talked to her about what was going to happen next or about what she might be able to do to help Kenneth avoid the death penalty. (R. 1662 - 1663) If he had spoken to her, she would have testified and told the jury what a good boy her son was and about the problems of growing up in their neighborhood. <u>Id.</u> Her testimony that, even after Mr. Hartley left home, he called or otherwise had daily contact with her every single day would have been particularly powerful. (R. 1664)

Denise Groomes testified that she is a school teacher in Jacksonville who has been friends with Kenneth Hartley since they were children. (R. 1671) She was never contacted by Mr. Willis, despite the fact that she could have testified to the fact that Ken was a well mannered child who was raised with a lot of ethical values, who went to church, and was who active in the community. (R. 1671) She testified that he attended church and played sports. <u>Id.</u> She had not known him to get in trouble. <u>Id.</u> Ms. Groomes certainly would have testified had she been contacted. (R. 1679)

Tanya Hawk testified at the evidentiary hearing that she knew Kenneth Hartley in elementary school and grew up with him.

(R. 1681) She would have testified that she has known Kenneth since she was a little girl and has "loved him" from the third grade on. <u>Id.</u> Her knowledge of Ken was "all good points." (R. 1683) She has had a crush on him since the third grade and he has always helped her out. When she needed or wanted something all she had to do was "look to Kenneth" and he would help her out greatly. Ms. Hawk also noted how helpful Kenneth was to elderly people and had personally witnessed his kindnesses when they were growing up. <u>Id.</u> When she needed something heavy or things like that, Mr. Hartley would be the one that would help her. (R. 1684) Ms. Hawk testified that she visited Mr. Hartley in prison several times and knew about some of his problems with the law.

Although Ms. Hawk told the lawyers she would be willing to be a character witness for Mr. Hartley, they did not contact her or use her. (R. 1690)

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