IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KENNETH HARTLEY,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC04-1387

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

-----/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL MCCOLLUM
ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA
Assistant Attorney
General
Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
THE CAPITOL
Tallahassee, Florida
(850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583
(850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

C. Failure to retain a mental health expert

On page 40 of his initial brief, Hartley asserts that he does not intend to appeal the collateral court's denial of his claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to adequately employ a mental health expert and to present evidence of brain damage. (IB 40). Nonetheless, in his first

⁸Trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that Hartley never asked him to call any particular witness to

claim, Hartley faults trial counsel for failing to seek a mental health expert's opinion to establish statutory mitigation. Should this Court determine that Hartley is actually presenting some sort of claim before this Court, instead of merely venting frustration at trial counsel's failure to offer an explanation for his decision, this Court may deny this claim because the record shows Hartley affirmatively waived his right to consult with a mental health expert and/or present evidence of mental mitigation during the penalty phase of his capital trial.

Prior to trial, Hartley moved for an order to transport Hartley for evaluation by a mental health expert. The Court granted the motion. (TR. Vol LXX 2554-2555). Hartley did not, however, call any mental health expert to testify on his behalf at the penalty phase.

Instead, Hartley presented two other witnesses during the penalty phase of his capital trial. Hartley, first, presented the testimony of seasoned criminal defense attorney, Alan Chipperfield, to provide some assurance that if the jury recommended a life sentence, Hartley would indeed spend his life in prison. Trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that he called Mr. Chipperfield because studies into the death penalty strongly suggested that persons are less

testify at the penalty phase.-4(PCR Vol. XII 2112).

likely to recommend death if they are secure in the belief that life means life. (PCR Vol. XII 2128-2129).

Next, Hartley called his pastor, Reverend Coley Williams. Reverend Williams testified he had known Hartley since 1980. According to Reverend Williams, Hartley had a quiet and peaceful spirit, attended church off and on, was remorseful about killing Angel McCormick, came from a good family, and was intelligent. (TR Vol. LXX 2525-2535). Reverend Williams told the jury that Hartley was not deprived as a child and was raised in a loving home. He was not abused and his childhood environment was wholesome and stable. (TR Vol. LXX 2540). Reverend Williams thought Hartley was a mature individual. (TR Vol. LXX 2541).

Just after Reverend Williams testified, trial counsel announced he had no further witnesses to present. The prosecutor asked the trial judge to inquire as to the defense's failure to present any psychiatric testimony during the penalty phase. The following exchange took place after the prosecutor made his request:

TRIAL COUNSEL: Your Honor, let me say--I don't mean this sarcastically--this is an odd time for Mr. Bateh to be worrying about the record. But the fact of the matter is I have told Mr. Bateh this before and I will repeat it for the purposes of the record although I do not think it is required, Mr. Hartley and I have discussed this on several different occasions over a matter of months with deliberate exercised judgment that we do not intend to do that.

We do not wish to do that. Certainly we are aware that the Court entered an order transporting him for that [to obtain psychiatric evaluation] purpose if we wanted it to be done. We did not request it to be done. I don't know that we need to do any official waiver or formal waivers in as much counsel acknowledges those things are not required, they are not done in other situations.

COURT: I don't know anything else we need to do.

PROSECUTOR: That is probably sufficient....

(TR. Vol LXX 2554-2555).

This Court has recognized that a competent defendant may waive or limit his right to present mitigating evidence. Boyd v. State, 910 So.2d 167, 189 (Fla. 2005). Hartley does not allege this waiver was not knowing or voluntary and there is no real issue about Hartley's competence.⁹ Hartley did not testify at the evidentiary hearing this decision was not, as trial counsel explained on the record to the trial judge, the result of his own deliberate exercised judgment in consultation with trial counsel. In fact, Hartley presented no evidence at all to support the notion his waiver at trial of his right to present mental mitigation was anything but knowing and voluntary. Given counsel's experience and Hartley's failure to present any evidence that his waiver of

⁹ Hartley did not raise a claim on direct appeal that his waiver of mental mitigation evidence was not knowing and voluntary or that any inquiry about the waiver was insufficient. Hartley v. State, 686 So.2d 1316 (Fla. 1996).

mental mitigation was not knowing and voluntary, this Court should deny this claim.

Additionally, this Court may deny this claim because Hartley has failed to show that trial counsel's failure to consult with a qualified mental health expert undermines confidence in his sentence to death. In presenting this claim to the collateral court, Hartley made no allegation he was insane at the time of the murder or was incompetent to stand trial. Hartley did not allege he suffers from any major mental illness or a low IQ. Hartley also made no allegation that at the time of the murder he was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance or that at the time of the murder he was unable to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. (PCR Vol. I 148-149, Vol. II 234).¹⁰

Before this Court, Hartley, likewise, makes no claim that either statutory mitigator applied at the time of the murder

¹⁰ While Hartley did allege, in a conclusory fashion, in Claim XXI of his amended motion for post-conviction relief, that he previously had psychological problems, suffered severe child abuse, had a chronic alcohol problem, and suffered brain damage, Hartley put on no evidence at the evidentiary hearing to support this claim. (PCR Vol. II 234). In fact, at both trial and at the evidentiary hearing, Hartley's witnesses provided no support at all for the notion that Hartley had a history of psychological problems, alcohol abuse or suffered from brain damage. They also specifically refuted any notion that Hartley suffered "severe child abuse."

or that he suffers from a major mental illness, low IQ, or brain damage. Instead, Hartley faults counsel only for failing to "offer any explanation for the fact he did not seek a mental-health expert's opinion to establish statutory mitigation...".¹¹ (IB 53).

Hartley put on no evidence at the evidentiary hearing to support his claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to consult with a mental health expert in preparing for trial. As noted by the collateral court in denying Hartley's claim, Hartley presented no evidence he suffered any brain damage or that either statutory mental mitigator was present at the time of the murder. (PCR Vol. XI 1872). Neither Hartley's siblings nor his mother provided any testimony to support the notion that, as a child or teenager, Hartley suffered from mental health problems, low intelligence, low self-esteem, substance abuse, brain damage, impulse control, or childhood head injuries. (PCR Vol. XI 1872). Likewise, none reported that Hartley suffered any sexual or physical abuse that might contribute to his mental or emotional condition at the time of the murder. Though granted an evidentiary hearing on this claim, Hartley failed to produce any evidence to support his claim that trial

¹¹ Perhaps this is so because Hartley never asked him.

counsel was ineffective for failing to present the testimony of a qualified mental health expert to the jury. This Court should deny this claim.¹²

¹² Hartley complained, in his motion for rehearing from the denial of his amended motion for post-conviction relief, that the collateral court judge had precluded him from presenting evidence at the evidentiary hearing to support his claim because the court denied his motion for the appointment of a mental health expert. (PCR Vol. XIII 2337). He has not raised a specific claim that the collateral court erred in failing to grant Mr. Malnik's eleventh hour request for the appointment of a mental health expert.

However, nothing in Rule 3.851 or in Florida law required appointed collateral counsel to seek leave of court to consult with a mental health expert in post-conviction proceedings as part of the investigation into whether trial counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate mental mitigation or present the testimony of a qualified mental health expert. Section 27.711(6), Florida Statutes provides reimbursement for collateral counsel for up to \$15,000 for miscellaneous expenses including payment of expert witness fees.

Mr. Malnik's request for appointment of a mental health expert came well after the evidentiary hearing was concluded and years after Hartley filed his initial motion for post-conviction relief. Even so, when he finally did seek to retain a mental health expert, his only grounds were that Hartley had been physically assaulted as a child and appeared to be traumatized. (PCR Vol. XIII 2223-2224).

This request was not sufficient to trigger a duty on the part of the collateral court judge, to appoint a mental health expert, especially so late in the proceeding. In his motion, Hartley pointed to no nexus between the murder and this alleged assault, which occurred years before the murder. In his motion, Hartley made no claim he suffered from any brain damage or even had a history of brain damage as a result of this injury or from any other specific trauma or injury. Further, none of the evidentiary hearing witnesses testified about any mental problems, low intelligence, substance abuse, brain damage, childhood injuries, sexual or mental abuse, or any other factor relating to available mental mitigation.

II. WHETHER THE COLLATERAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE ESTABLISHES THAT THE STATE PRESENTED FALSE TESTIMONY IN VIOLATION OF BRADY v. MARYLAND AND GIGLIO v. UNITED STATES

In his second claim on appeal, Hartley blends a newly discovered evidence claim with an allegation of a Giglio violation. Hartley claims that newly discovered evidence demonstrates the prosecutor knowingly put on false testimony.¹³

Though certainly not clear from the initial brief, it appears Hartley is actually attempting to present this Court with two separate claims, the first, a claim of newly discovered evidence in the form of recantation evidence. The second, a Giglio violation based on the testimony of James Johnson that State witnesses, Ronald Bronner and Eric Brooks, reported that the prosecutor told them what to say. Hartley notes that "[i]t is difficult to imagine a clearer Giglio violation if Ronald [sic] Johnson is credible. (IB 67).

Without even looking to the merits of this claim, this Court may deny this "hybrid" claim on procedural grounds for

Given these considerations and the fact Hartley waited years after he first filed his motion for post-conviction relief to pursue appointment of a mental health expert, the collateral court judge did not abuse his discretion in denying Hartley's motion for appointment of a mental health expert.

¹³ A claim that newly discovered evidence shows the prosecutor put on false testimony is not really a claim of newly discovered evidence. This so called "newly discovered" evidence is not evidence relevant to guilt and therefore cannot be of a nature likely to produce an acquittal upon

two reasons. First, this claim was never properly presented to the collateral court below.

While Hartley filed an emergency motion to add additional witnesses and additional grounds for 3.851 relief on October 1, 2002, Hartley never amended his motion for post-conviction relief to add a legally sufficient and sworn Giglio claim. Nor did he ever amend to add a claim of newly discovered evidence.

In his October 1, 2002 motion, Hartley alleged only that an unidentified person was willing to testify that unidentified State witnesses admitted they committed perjury at trial. (PCR Vol. V 961-962). Such vague and conclusory allegations do not constitute a legally sufficient claim of newly discovered evidence. Sims v. State, 750 So.2d 622, 624-625 (Fla. 1999) (in order to present a legally sufficient claim of newly discovered evidence the defendant must allege that the asserted facts were unknown to the trial court, the party, or counsel by the time of trial, it must appear that the defendant or his counsel could not have known them by the use of diligence, and the evidence must be of such nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial).

On October 2, 2002, during the second day of Hartley's evidentiary hearing, collateral counsel indicated he had just

retrial.

learned of a "new witness." He identified the witness as Jimmy Johnson. Collateral counsel provided no other details except that the witness allegedly had information that a "Mr. Bonner" lied about a jailhouse confession. (PCR Vol. XII 2132). Mr. Morrow told the collateral court he needed time to talk to the witness to see if that was true and then would "file a supplemental" with his name and address along with what he has to say. (PCR Vol. XII 2132).

However, no sworn "supplemental" claim was ever presented. The fact the trial judge allowed Hartley great leeway at the evidentiary hearing and afforded Hartley multiple opportunities to find and call witnesses to testify on his behalf did not relieve Hartley of his obligation to present a legally sufficient claim to the trial court. Because neither a legally sufficient claim of newly discovered evidence nor a legally sufficient Giglio claim was properly and timely presented to the lower court, the claim is not cognizable on appeal. Cave v. State, 899 So.2d 1042, 1052 (Fla. 2005).

This Court may also deny this claim because it was not preserved for appeal. Perhaps because Hartley never actually supplemented his amended motion for post-conviction relief with this new claim, the collateral court never ruled on the

issue and Hartley never sought to obtain a ruling. While in his initial brief, Hartley claims the collateral court erred in denying his claim of newly discovered evidence, the collateral court never actually ruled on the claim. (PCR Vol. VIII 1494-1520, Vol. XI-1853-1880). A defendant who fails to obtain a ruling on a motion also fails to preserve the issue for appeal. Farina v. State, 937 So.2d 612,629 (Fla. 2006).

In this case, the collateral court judge issued an order denying Hartley's motion for post-conviction relief. Hartley filed a motion for rehearing yet Hartley never asserted, or even pointed out, that the collateral court failed to address his purported claim of newly discovered evidence. (PCR Vol. XIII 2331-2338). In response to the motion for rehearing, the collateral court issued an amended order denying Hartley's motion for rehearing. (PCR Vol. X 1853). Once again, the collateral court did not address the claim, and once again Hartley remained silent about the collateral judge's failure to rule on what Hartley claims, now, are claims of newly discovered evidence and a Giglio violation. Hartley's failure to request a ruling on this claim precludes him from raising them now on appeal. Farina v. State, 937 So.2d at 629.

Should this court consider this claim on the merits,

Hartley is still not entitled to relief. To establish a Giglio violation, Hartley must demonstrate (1) a witness gave false testimony; (2) the prosecutor knew the testimony was false; and (3) the statement was material. See Robinson v. State, 707 So.2d 688, 693 (Fla. 1998); Routly v. State, 590 So.2d 397, 400 (Fla. 1991). The State bears the burden of proof on the third prong. If the defendant makes a threshold showing satisfying the first two prongs of a Giglio violation, the burden shifts to the State to prove that the presentation of the false testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. To meet the harmless error standard, the State must establish that there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction. Guzman v. State, 941 So.2d 1045, 1050 (Fla. 2006)

Hartley's argument the State committed a Giglio violation seems to turn on the notion that Johnson's testimony, that Brooks told him the State was "rehearsing" his testimony, establishes a Giglio violation. (IB 66). Such a vague hearsay statement cannot establish a Giglio violation. No Giglio violation occurs if a prosecutor reviews the testimony of a witness before trial.¹⁴

¹⁴ Hartley also points to Johnson's statement that Bronner told him that "he told the prosecutor that they told him they didn't know nothing [about the murder]." (PCR Vol. XVII 2747). This statement is completely incoherent and cannot

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